

Tuesday, 28th March, 2017

Committee

MINUTES

Present:

Councillor Jane Potter (Chair), Councillor Gay Hopkins (Vice-Chair) and Councillors Joe Baker, Tom Baker-Price, Matthew Dormer, Andrew Fry, Paul Swansborough, Jennifer Wheeler and Nina Wood-Ford

Officers:

Sue Hanley

Democratic Services Officers:

J Bayley and A Scarce

79. APOLOGIES AND NAMED SUBSTITUTES

There were no apologies for absence. Councillor Swansborough asked for it to be noted that he needed to leave the meeting at 8.00 pm.

80. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST AND OF PARTY WHIP

There were no declarations of interest nor pf any party whip.

81. MINUTES

RESOLVED that

the minutes of the meeting held on 14th February 2017 be confirmed as a correct record and signed by the Chair.

82. MENTAL HEALTH SERVICES FOR YOUNG PEOPLE TASK GROUP - FINAL REPORT

Councillor Nina Wood-Ford, Chair of the Mental Health Services for Young People Task Group, gave a presentation on the findings of the Group and its recommendations. This included information in respect of the background to the setting up of the Task Group and how it linked to the Council's Strategic Purposes. As it was such a broad subject it had been agreed that the group would concentrate

	••	٠.				•			-			•		-							•	•	•	•	•	-	-			-		-			-	•	
												((h	١	ć	9	ì	i	r	•															

Committee

Tuesday, 28th March, 2017

on services for children and young people. Information was provided in respect of those at higher risk of mental health and wellbeing problems together with details of the situation in Redditch. Councillor Wood-Ford also highlighted that there were a number of changes which were underway including actions delivered in line with the Worcestershire Transformation Plan for Children and Young People's Mental Health and Wellbeing, the West Midlands Combined Authority Mental Health Commission's Thrive West Midlands Action Plan and the Suicide Prevention Plan for Redditch.

Councillor Wood-Ford explained that the group had put forward seven recommendations which were designed to help young people and the people who worked with them. All these proposals were based on the evidence gathered and had unanimous, cross-party consensus. Whilst the group were aware that recommendations to partner organisations did not have to be accepted, it was hoped that they would be supported. Details of each recommendation were then given together with the thinking behind them and brief details of the supporting evidence.

Following the presentation Members thanked the group for their detailed and comprehensive report. A number of points were made in respect of the Transformation Plan and the work that it contained, due to concerns that this would be expensive and questions were raised as to whether funding for this was available. Officers confirmed that the plan was already in place and was being delivered on a rolling basis; a number of the actions had been carried out, some were on going and a number remained to be addressed. The plan had also been refreshed in recent months.

Members subsequently discussed a number of areas of the report in more detail, including the following:

- The work of the Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) team and the allocation process for their services.
- Difficulties in engaging with young people.
- It was confirmed that although the group had sent a questionnaire to all local schools only four had responded.
- The data that had been considered by the group. Officers agreed to provide Members with the data from the Redditch Health Profile for 2016 and the Redditch Health and Wellbeing Profile for 2013 for information.
- The group agreed that there was some very good work going on and that mental health was an issue which was now openly spoken about. This had helped raise the profile of mental ill health and the need for support.

Committee

Tuesday, 28th March, 2017

- The need for support and training to be made available for those who had contact with the young people at an early stage, for example within schools.
- It was confirmed that the funding available took into account population per clinical commissioning group area.

Following the discussions Officers highlighted a number of points which had been raised by external witnesses once the report had been published within the agenda. In respect of Recommendation 2 the Change Champion referred to for the Connecting Families Team it had been suggested it would be helpful to clarify whether this arrangement should be for Redditch only, as it was acknowledged that there were different Connecting Families teams across the county. In respect of Recommendation 3 the group have been advised that a different department at Worcestershire County Council organised Youth Mental Health First Aid Training and it was therefore suggested that the words "Public Health Department" be removed from the wording. The Committee were also asked to note that the 50% cuts to Early Help this was to the Early Help provider in Redditch not to the whole of the Early Help which covered a range of difference services.

It was also confirmed that the recommendations 1, 2 and 3 were to external organisations, recommendations 4, 5, and 6 were to the Executive Committee and recommendation 7 was a resolved item for this Committee.

RECOMMENDED to the Emotional Wellbeing and CAMHS Partnership Board that

- 1) Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) should not withdraw services from young people who fail to engage during their appointments; and
- a representative of the new Liaison and Diversion Service for Worcestershire should work as a Change Champion in Connecting Families once the service starts to operate in the county.

RECOMMENDED to Worcestershire County Council that

3) Worcestershire County Council should review the provision of Youth Mental Health First Aid training to determine whether a concessionary rate could be offered to enable staff from smaller Voluntary and Community Sector organisations to participate.

Committee

Tuesday, 28th March, 2017

RECOMMENDED to the Executive Committee that

- 4) The Leader of the Council should write to the Secretary of State for Education, the Rt. Hon. Justine Greening, urging her to ensure that Personal, Social, Health and Economic Education (PSHE) Lessons, to include lessons about mental health and wellbeing issues, become a statutory part of the national school curriculum;
- 5) a new theme should be added to the Council's grants programme which is dedicated to projects which help people experiencing mental health and wellbeing problems; and
- 6) Senior officers, following consultation with the Portfolio Holders for Corporate Management and Housing respectively, should review the implications for Council Services of the following actions detailed in the West Midlands Combined Authority Mental Health Commission's Thrive West Midlands Action Plan:

Action 4: the proposal to evaluate a financial incentive to encourage companies to demonstrate their commitment to mental health and wellbeing.

Action 5: the proposal to help people to gain housing and work (including potentially supported accommodation).

The outcomes of this work should be reported for the consideration of the Executive Committee.

RESOLVED that

the Mental Health Services for Young People Task Group reconvenes in 12 months' time to receive monitoring updates from officers about progress in the Borough with the implementation of:

- a) the actions detailed in the Worcestershire Transformation Plan for Children and Young People's Emotional Wellbeing and Mental Health;
- b) the West Midlands Combined Authority Mental Health Commission's *Thrive West Midlands: An Action Plan to Drive Better Health and Wellbeing in the West Midlands*; and

Committee

Tuesday, 28th March, 2017

c) the Suicide Prevention Plan for Redditch.

83. TASK GROUP REVIEWS - DRAFT SCOPING DOCUMENTS

The Chair invited Councillor Joe Baker to present a scoping document detailing the draft terms of reference for a proposed review of homelessness in the Borough.

Councillor Baker explained that there appeared to have been an increase in the number of homeless people on the streets of Redditch. This had led to an increase in the number of residents raising their own concerns with him. He suggested it would be appropriate to hold a scrutiny Task Group into the issue to look at all aspects of it, as there were a variety of causes and it was important to ensure that preventative work was being carried out. Councillor Baker believed that there were a lot of myths around the problems homeless people caused and he suggested that recent publicity which had been issued on this subject locally was not helpful. A review would provide an opportunity to get a clear view of the support available and preventative work that was carried out by both the Council and other agencies.

It was highlighted that the Council had carried out an investigation into Homelessness in 2006 and that Bromsgrove District Council had more recently investigated the issue in 2016. Whilst it was acknowledged that Bromsgrove District Council's report would be useful background information, Councillor Baker commented that the demographics were different so this would not be a sufficient reason for this Committee not to carry out a review. He also suggested that enough time had passed since the previous review of this subject in Redditch to ensure that a fresh investigation of homelessness would not result in duplication.

The Committee subsequently discussed the recent work of the Redditch Town Centre Partnership in respect of homelessness. Members noted that a local church was carrying out work to support a number of homeless people. It was suggested that there was a need to get a balance between those that chose to make this a lifestyle choice and those that found they were homeless and wanted support to change their circumstances. A review would help to provide a clearer picture of the whole situation and to ensure that work was not being duplicated.

Members discussed and raised some concerns that whilst this was an important issue worthy of scrutiny it was also complicated and wide reaching. Questions were raised as to whether the scoping document was too broad to allow for successful scrutiny to be

Committee

Tuesday, 28th March, 2017

carried out. There were also a number of legislative changes in respect of homelessness due to be implemented later in the year which would impact on the situation and it was suggested that it might be more appropriate to carry out the investigation once these had been implemented. Whilst this was accepted Members believed that as it was a current issue time was of the essence and carrying out a review would show that the Council was listening to residents and taking action to resolve the situation. The option of a Short Sharp Review being carried out over a three month period with the potential for further work to be carried out following an interim report was also discussed.

The extent to which homelessness was a major issue within Redditch was debated and whilst it was agreed that it was not a major problem a review of the subject was still considered to be valid. In respect of the recent publicity from the Council Officers explained that this had been a multi- agency approach to raise the profile of a particular group who had heightened media attention and to deal with enquiries received in respect of that situation.

Anecdotal evidence was discussed by Members in relation to various groups around the Borough who supported the homeless and those in situations which might lead to it. Concerns were also raised as to the impact of benefit changes.

Following further discussions and agreement that any work carried out in respect of the review would commence in the new municipal year it was

RESOLVED that

- 1) a Short Sharp Review in respect of Homelessness be launched in line with the scoping document; and
- 2) Councillor Joe Baker be appointed as Chair of the above Short Sharp Review.

84. CRIME AND DISORDER SCRUTINY PANEL - CHAIR'S UPDATE

Councillor Matthew Dormer, Chair of the Crime and Disorder Scrutiny Panel, provided an update on the Panel meeting which had been held on 22nd March 2017. He advised that Officers had provided a comprehensive update of the work of the North Worcestershire Community Safety Partnership including details of grant funding available and specific projects which were being undertaken. Data was also provided in respect of a number of areas which were broken down to cover the three Councils within

Committee

Tuesday, 28th March, 2017

the Partnership; Redditch Borough, Bromsgrove District and Wyre Forest District.

It had been highlighted that shop lifting within Redditch was particularly prevalent and this was being addressed by a special project. In addition funding of £10,000 had been identified to tackle anti-social behaviour, which would be available to use where needed.

85. WORKING GROUPS - UPDATE REPORTS AND ANNUAL REVIEW

Budget Scrutiny Working Group - Chair, Councillor Jane Potter

Councillor Potter noted that, as agreed by the Committee in June 2016, a review needed to be carried out to establish whether the working group's activities had been useful and if it should continue to exist. Members discussed the group's activities during the year and agreed that it had been helpful and had provided Members with a better understanding of the working of the Council, in particular the impact of the difficult financial times ahead and how these would be faced in the future. For these reasons there was general consensus that the group should continue to exist in 2017/18.

Details of the work the group had carried out at its latest meeting were discussed and it was noted that this had included investigating the work of the Place Partnership. Members were advised that at a future meeting the group was intending to investigate the Council's contract procedure rules further.

<u>Performance Scrutiny Working Group – Chair, Councillor Tom</u> Baker-Price

Councillor Baker-Price advised Members that there were a number or recommendations in respect of the work of this group within the additional papers. At its last meeting the group had discussed its activities during the year. There had been general agreement that the group could work more productively in the coming year by bringing its work in line with the work of the Council. The Group therefore proposed to primarily focus on the Council Plan and the measures arising from that plan in 2017/18.

RESOLVED that

1) the Budget Scrutiny Working Group should continue to exist in 2017/18 and in future years;

Committee

Tuesday, 28th March, 2017

- 2) the Performance Scrutiny Working Group continue to exist in 2017/18 and in future years;
- 3) a member of the Performance Scrutiny Working Group sit on the Budget Scrutiny Working Group, subject to its continuing existence, to help reduce the potential for duplication in the activities of the two groups;
- 4) in 2017/18 the Performance Scrutiny Working Group should primarily focus on the Council Plan and the measures arising from that plan, when selecting items for scrutiny;
- 5) subject to the agreement of Bromsgrove District Council's Overview and Scrutiny Board, in 2017/18 informal meetings should be arranged between the Performance Scrutiny Working Group and Bromsgrove District Council's Measures Dashboard (scrutiny) Working Group to share ideas and understanding of best practice in performance scrutiny; and
- 6) subject to the agreement of Bromsgrove District Council's Overview and Scrutiny Board, where both the Performance Scrutiny Working Group and the Measures Dashboard Working Group identify the same item from the dashboard as being suitable for further investigation this should be reviewed at a joint scrutiny meeting.

86. OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY ANNUAL REPORT 2016/17

The Chair introduced the Committee's Annual Report and said she felt the Committee had had another successful year. In particular the activities of the two Working Groups had been proved extremely useful. Throughout the year the Committee had received a number of presentations and reports including on such topics as the Herefordshire and Worcestershire Sustainability and Transformation Plan and Employment Opportunities for People with Disabilities. The Committee had also commenced its first piece of joint scrutiny work with Bromsgrove District Council in response to the Staff Survey and it was hoped that joint working would continue between the two Councils in the future where appropriate.

The Joint Increasing Physical Activity Task Group, hosted by Worcestershire County Council, had been completed at the start of the year followed by the Committee's own Mental Health Services for Young People Task Group in March 2017. Progress on all the recommendations from the Committee's work had, as usual, been

Committee

Tuesday, 28th March, 2017

monitored through the Recommendation Tracker and the Crime and Disorder Panel had received an update on the work of the North Worcestershire Crime and Disorder Partnership. Regular updates had also been received by the Committee from the Council's representatives on both the West Midlands Combined Authority Scrutiny Committee and the Worcestershire County Council Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

The Chair highlighted the work of the Provision of Support Networks for the LGB&T Community Task Group and the community awards received by Members and Officers in recognition of this work. Members noted that this had been a much appreciated and well received report and had made a real difference to the community. The Committee also acknowledged that it had been a privilege to receive nominations for these awards from the local Redditch LGB&T Community Group and for a representative of Stonewall to attend a meeting of Council to help present the awards.

Members were given an opportunity to comment on the report and Councillor Gay Hopkins suggested that an update be provided on the work of the Improving Disabled People's Access to Redditch's Taxi Fleet Short, Sharp Review. It was agreed that this would be included within the Annual Report.

Following consideration of the Annual Report the Chair invited Councillor Jenny Wheeler, the Council's representative on the West Midlands Combined Authority's (WMCA) Overview and Scrutiny Committee, to provide a brief update of its work for inclusion in the annual report. As part of this Councillor Wheeler provided background information in respect of the establishment of the WMCA Overview and Scrutiny Committee and the meetings which had been held over the year.

Councillor Wheeler also provided details about the Draft Order which would come into effect on 8th May 2017. This highlighted that the Chair must be an appropriate person and could not of the same political party as the Mayor. It was noted that non-constituent members did not have an automatic vote but could be given one by resolution of the WMCA Board. Members were encouraged to lobby the Leader, who sat on the Board, to ensure that this vote was given to the non-constituent members.

In respect of the work of the WMCA Overview and Scrutiny Committee four "select" committees had been established to look at key areas. It was noted that following the Order coming into effect these would need to be renamed Task and Finish Groups. The areas covered by these groups were:

Committee

Tuesday, 28th March, 2017

- Mental Health (of which Councillor Wheeler was a member).
- Land
- Productivity
- Budget

The WMCA Overview and Scrutiny Committee hoped to create a database as a central resource of scrutiny work that had already been carried out by constituent and non-constituent members. This could help to limit duplication and could be a useful resource. A key future role of the WMCA Overview and Scrutiny Committee would be to hold the Mayor to account and this would be done at least twice a year with the potential to for the Mayor to attend further meetings if necessary.

Concerns had been raised around Local Enterprise Partnerships (LEPs) being actively involved with the WMCA Overview and Scrutiny Committee. Currently of the three LEPs in the area one had chosen not to appoint a representative to the Committee. There was one dedicated Scrutiny Officer (which was a requirement) who had been seconded for 15 months from Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council for two days a week.

During consideration of the annual report the Chair referred Members to the Committee's previous discussions in respect of changing the day of the Committee to a Thursday in order to carry out more effective pre-scrutiny work. Officers confirmed that this would be feasible on all but two occasions; one where a presentation from an outside organisation had already been arranged and the other in respect of the budget setting process prior to consideration of the budget at full Council in February.

Members were asked to inform Officers of any further changes to the annual report prior to it being considered at Council on 24th April. The Chair concluded the item by thanking both Members and Officers for their hard work and commitment throughout the year.

RESOLVED that

 the Overview and Scrutiny Committee's meetings in 2017/18 take place on a Thursday evening with exception of the meetings due to take place in July 2017 and February 2018; and

Committee

Tuesday, 28th March, 2017

2) subject to the amendments detailed in the preamble above the Overview and Scrutiny Committee's Annual Report 2016/17 be approved.

87. EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE MINUTES AND SCRUTINY OF THE EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE'S WORK PROGRAMME

Officers highlighted that there were no Minutes on this occasion. The latest edition of the Executive Committee's Work Programme had been attached for Members' consideration to provide an opportunity for the Committee to identify any items considered suitable for pre-decision scrutiny.

RESOLVED that

the Executive Committee Work Programme 3rd April to 31st July 2017 be noted.

88. OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY WORK PROGRAMME

Officers confirmed that the dates of future meetings would be updated in line with discussions held earlier in the meeting. As requested at the previous meeting the Engagement Strategy had been added to the Committee's Work Programme, however this had now been put back on the Executive Committee Work Programme and would therefore not be pre-scrutinised until the first meeting of the new municipal year. The item requested at the previous meeting in respect of Economic Development Strategy would be considered in December 2017.

89. TASK GROUPS - PROGRESS REPORTS

<u>Staff Survey Joint Scrutiny Task Group – Vice Chair, Councillor</u> Jane Potter

Councillor Potter explained that the group had requested sickness absence data at a meeting in February and after consideration of this had requested further information. The additional information was presented at the group's meeting on 22nd March by relevant Officers. Information had also been provided in respect of a new staff leave system which had been introduced, which had shown a gap in the data and concerns had been raised that sickness absence was not being reported correctly. Officers assured Members that this had been raised at Corporate Management level and Heads of Service had been tasked with ensuring that all responsible officers were updating the new system in a timely manner.

Committee

Tuesday, 28th March, 2017

It was explained that from the additional data the group had been able to see that in some areas where there appeared to be significant absences this was in fact due to long-term sickness and this could quite quickly have an adverse impact on data for a particular team. It was therefore important to look at the whole picture and not at one particular area in isolation.

The group had also discussed the potential for joint working in a number of ways and this was something which the group would give further consideration to at future meetings.

90. HEALTH OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

Councillor Nina Wood-Ford, the Council's representative on the Worcestershire Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee (HOSC), advised that there had not been a meeting of the Committee since her last update. The Committee was due to meet the following week, on 5th April 2017.

The Meeting commenced at 7.00 pm and closed at 8.52 pm